




VISION
The most proactive, dynamic and sustainable Chicken Industry in Canada.  
Consumer Focused, Value Chain Driven.  

MISSION
Work with the Value Chain to optimize efficiency and delivery to consumers;
Engage stakeholders to gain their trust and confidence;
Strengthen our Social Licence; and Implement policy in a timely manner.  
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BCCMB REPORT

WHO WE ARE: 
The BC Chicken Marketing Board (BCCMB) monitors and regulates the production of chicken in British 
Columbia.  This includes all activities from the time the chick hatches until the chicken arrives at the 
processing plant.  This is done through reporting procedures established in the BCCMB General Orders.  
Hatcheries, growers, transporters and processors are licenced by the Board on an annual basis.  Routine 
inspections and audits are performed in the field by Board audit/inspection staff members.  

British Columbia has more than 300 chicken growers licenced by the Board.  All licenced growers hold 
quota or permits issued to them by the Board.  Growers produced a variety of chicken including free 
run and free range chicken, certified organic chicken and specific breeds such as the Redbro, Silkie or 
Taiwanese chicken.  All growers are required to apply for a licence each calendar year and may be granted 
a licence if they continue to be in good standing with the Board.   All growers must follow a National On-
Farm Food Safety Assurance Program (OFFSAP) and a National Animal Care Program (ACP) in conjunction 
with a Provincial Bio-security Program which ensures that BC chicken growers continue to produce a high 
quality, safe source of locally grown chicken for Canadian consumers.  

During the calendar year 2013, British Columbia’s 335 chicken growers produced 213 million kilograms 
(live weight) of chicken (an increase of 1.08% from 2012).  For the year 2013, BC produced 101.3% of its 
periodic production.  

During 2013 there were changes to the makeup of the Board.  Mr. Rick Thiessen’s second term ended 
March 2013, and he did not seek re-election to the Board.  In March 2013, Mr. Kerry Froese joined the 
Board, elected by the grower membership for a 3 year term ending March 31, 2016.  On September 
30, 2013 the appointments of Ms. Daphne Stancil (Chair), Mr. Greg Gauthier (Vice Chair) and Mr. John 
McComish (Board Member) were completed.  Mr. Greg Gauthier was re-appointed by Order-in-Council 
#395 for a second term ending September 30, 2016.  By Order in Council # 393, Mr. Robin Smith was 
appointed as Chair of the BCCMB for a term ending September 30, 2016.  By Order-in-Council # 394, Mr. 
Alistair Johnston was appointed as a Board member, with a term ending September 30, 2015.  

Board and staff members would like to express our thanks and fond farewells to our departing Board 
members, for their years of service to the BC chicken industry. 
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BCCMB REPORT continued
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BCCMB REPORT continued

The BC Chicken Marketing Board (BCCMB) is committed to the concept of principle based regulation and 
outcome based decision making.  The BCCMB has fundamental principles and objectives it believes are 
important.  In order to respond to changing societal priorities and a changing and increasingly complex 
marketplace, the BCCMB has adopted a number of principles to guide its members within its national and 
provincial mandate and jurisdiction.  

The priorities of the Board in 2013 were to complete the focus on improving governance practices at the 
Board level such as strategic planning, accountability, transparency, communication and consultation.  The 
Board also focused on the areas of succession planning, market intelligence and social media presence.  
To that end, in August of 2013 the Board welcomed Ms. Cheryl Davie to the BCCMB staff in the newly 
created position of Manager of Strategic Initiatives and Analysis. 

Left to right:  Kerry Froese, Greg Gauthier, Derek Janzen, Robin Smith and Alistair Johnston. 
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Many thanks to BCCMB staff members Christine Rickson, Carol Blatz, Brian Hoven, Kathy Erickson, Katie 
Lowe, Yvonne Wallace, Mona Granfors, Arlene Oslie and Kira Neu for their continued hard work and 
dedication.

Left to right (back row).  Bill Vanderspek, Carol Blatz, Kathy Erickson, Cheryl Davie, Christine Rickson, Brian Hoven.
Left to right (front row):  Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Kira Neu, Mona Granfors, Katie Lowe.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

The Board engages with direct industry participants, other regulated marketing agencies and other groups 
with interest in the BC chicken industry for input and feedback using a number of mechanisms.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

The Board continues to attend monthly meetings with the BC Chicken Growers’ Association (BCCGA) 
directors to provide and receive direct face-to-face feedback on emerging industry issues.  It allows for the 
Board to engage in consultation prior to managing change in the industry.  The Board continues to attend 
monthly or bi-monthly grower meetings in the three regions of the province (Lower Mainland, Vancouver 
Island and Interior Region), allowing the Board to gain better understanding of regional issues and the 
need for regional growth, interacting with growers on a regular and regional basis. In addition, the Board 
continues to hold one if its regular board meetings in the Interior and Island regions, providing growers 
the opportunity to meet with the Board to discuss their concerns without having to travel to the Lower 
Mainland.  These meetings are generally held in conjunction with regional BCCGA meetings which are then 
attended by the entire Board.  

The Board meets with the processors collectively or individually as needed during Board Meeting(s) or with 
a subset of the Board at a time and place of the processors choosing to discuss items of mutual interest 
and concern.  Direct communication with processors occurs between board members or staff members 
prior to and as part of the national allocation setting process which occurs every 8 weeks.  Communication 
also occurs through the various committees of the Board such as the Pricing and Production Advisory 
Committee (PPAC) and the Specialty Markets Advisory Committee (SMAC) which are comprised of grower 
and processor representatives appointed by the BCCMB.  The Board received written input from the SMAC 
and PPAC after every meeting in the form of draft minutes and/or letters from the respective independent 
Chairs.  When necessary, briefing notes are prepared and circulated to the committees for advice and input 
prior to the Board making a decision that will affect matters of pricing and/or production.  

The Board meets with the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Commission (BCBHEC) on a regular basis to discuss 
areas of mutual interest and concern.  Communication between the two closely linked commodities 
has been somewhat sporadic in 2013 due to change in Board makeup, however several issues were 
resolved.  The issue of BCCMB representation on the BCBHEC PPAC has been concluded with the return 
of that position the BCCMB as opposed to the BCCGA.  The rationale behind the change was that growers 
currently sit on the Board and it assists in Board-to-Board communication.  This is consistent in that 
a BCBHEC director sits on the BCCMB’s PPAC.  The BCFIRB ordered Pricing Linkage between the two 
commodities will undergo a full update in the fall of 2014 with discussions already occurring respecting 
timing and content.  An area of contention continues to be “grower premiums”, which the BCBHEC insist 
should be factored into linkage calculations.  The BCCMB has stated that it is unaware of the extent and 
scope of grower premiums and cannot consider its inclusion in the linkage, which is based on the posted 
live price of broiler chicken to determine the relative cost recovery of each commodity.  The issue of 
updating the 1995 Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the chicken growers and hatching egg 
producers has been put on hold until the issue of premiums is resolved.  

The Board communicates with all industry partners via the monthly BCCMB Update which is transmitted 
electronically to the vast majority.  Current and past Board reports can be accessed on the public side of 
the Board’s website – www.bcchicken.ca  Growers without internet access are provided the monthly Board 
update via fax or Canada Post.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

ORGANIC SUMMIT:
The Board held an open meeting to discuss the future of the organic chicken sector in BC on Nov. 7, 2013.  
Attendance and interest was higher than anticipated with 37 representatives from four primary processors, 
three organic growers, two transitioning organic growers, BCFIRB, the BC Chicken Growers Association, the 
Board and staff, and other interested parties.

The summit agenda included two board presentations, opportunities for participants to ask questions, 
and an open discussion.  The first staff presentation focused on the production and documentation 
requirements needed to achieve and maintain certified organic status in BC.  The second presentation 
focused on market intelligence and research gathered by BCCMB staff on the current organic chicken 
market in BC.  The research indicated that the BC organic chicken market is facing increasing competition 
from suppliers in other areas such as Ontario and that overall, the market is being adequately supplied and 
that growth in the organic chicken sector will be achieved mainly if a lower price point is achievable.  

While the participants at the meeting had minimal input for the board for future policy considerations, 
it was evident that there were different opinions on whether or not organic chicken should maintain its 
current status of specialty or should be moved to the mainstream category.  Meeting attendees were given 
an opportunity to follow up on the meeting with written comments.  The Board will be consulting further in 
2014 prior to making any major changes to the organic program as it is currently formatted. 
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Specialty Markets Advisory Committee (S.M.A.C.) 

Annual Report  
2013
S.M.A.C. has had regular meetings during 2013 to deal with specialty items of business.

I am happy to report that Specialty Chicken has had a significant increase in production over the same 
period last year (2012).  Processors have reported having minimal inventories as of our last meeting on 
November 26.

Specialty Chick prices have remained the same during this year and the reduction in feed price has been a 
very welcome change.  Processor and Grower members have worked well together particularly during the 
early part of the year when feed prices were very much on the high side.

The SMAC, when determining its recommendation to the Board respecting the specialty live price for quota 
periods A-115 and A-116, discussed the SMAC processors voiced concern about the large price increases 
of the past few periods and the effect it could have on the demand for their product.  The growers then 
recommended a “temporary pricing buffer” of a 20% decrease on the COP indicated prices and division 
of the balance of the increase 50% equally over periods A-115 and A-116.  The growers indicated 
that the concept of the price buffer would be similar to what Ontario had done in previous periods for 
mainstream chicken, but that this should be considered as a “one off” concession that should not be 
considered as precedent setting.  This concept of the pricing of TC and certified organic chickens for A-115 
and A-116 was unanimously endorsed by the SMAC and recommended to the Board for approval.  The 
recommendation of the SMAC was accepted and endorsed by the Board.  

In the fall of 2013 the B.C.C.M.B. appointed the following members to S.M.A.C.:
1.  Corry Spitters (Organic Grower) replacing Rob Donaldson
2.  David Reid (Organic Grower) replacing Brad Reid
3.  Colin Regehr (T.C. Grower)
4.  Dion Wiebe (Rossdown Natural Foods) replacing Fairline (processor)

We welcome these new members to our Committee and look forward to working with them.

Again my thanks to the B.C.C.M.B. for their support and acceptance of our recommendations and to the 
members of S.M.A.C. for their continued dedication and hard work over this past year.

Armour Green
S.M.A.C. Chair
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BCCMB REPORT continued

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

Pricing & Production Advisory Committee (P.P.A.C.) 

Annual Report
2013
PPAC held 6 successful meetings in 2013. As requested by the Board in 2012, PPAC has been involved 
in many additional discussions in order to provide input to the Board on issues other than Pricing and 
Production. Topics discussed with varying degrees of completion were; PPAC Committee membership, 
Domestic Live Pricing, Differential Growth, Premiums, Grower movement, Cycle length, CFC (Provincial) 
Movements, New Entrant Grower Program and most recently, better alignment of Specialty/Organic 
definitions with the National (CFC) model. Meetings with BCFIRB are planned for 2014 to deal with possible 
changes to NEGP as it relates to Corporate and Family restructuring.

The PPAC successfully mediated a long term BC price differential on March 28, 2013.  The mediated 
agreement sets the differential to the weighted average live price base for quota periods A-120 to A-132 
inclusive at $0.0485. 

The multi period mediated agreement includes the following caveats:  The growers and processors agree 
that for period A-120 to A-132 inclusive, catching costs are: (a) for growers using chicks supplied by the 
processors’ hatchery -> 3.3 cents/kg for single deck barns and 3.6 cents/kg for double deck barns (b) for 
growers using chicks not supplied by their processors’ hatchery -> 3.55 cents/kg for single deck barns 
and 3.9 cents/kg for double decked barns.  Effective on placements for slaughter for period A-120, BC 
hatcheries will continue to offer a minimum of 2% extra chicks for the duration of the agreement.  The 
processors agree that during the 13 periods of this agreement, periods A-120 to A-132 inclusive, there 
will be no change in relation to chick servicing costs (Mareks, Bronchitis and Bursal).  Both parties may 
agree to amend the differential calculation, or the pricing model in its entirety should a new pricing model 
become prevalent in the Western Canadian Provinces.  

Stuart Wilson
PPAC Chair
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Differential Growth
At the national level, discussions continued from 2012 into 2013 in an effort to find a resolution to the 
issue of differential growth.  Discussions intensified after Alberta served notice to withdraw from the 
National Agency on November 22, 2012.  The 10 provinces met on February 12 and 13 in Ottawa and came 
close to a tentative agreement to settle the differential growth issue, but in the end an agreement was not 
possible.  The CFC Directors continued to meet to discuss this issue.  

In September 2013 a temporary solution to the differential growth issue was proposed by CFC Chair Mr. 
David Janzen.  This step was necessary in order for the directors at the CFC table to maintain their control 
over the national allocation process without outside interference. CFC had been advised by Farm Products 
Council of Canada (FPCC) that due to the ongoing dispute around the differential growth issue, they would 
not approve allocations beginning in period A-121 that did not contain elements of comparative advantage 
as required under FPCC regulations.  

It was made clear to CFC that unless steps were taken in this direction prior to the A-121 allocation that 
a comparative advantage formula could be imposed upon CFC by FPCC. CFC directors met the evening of 
September 3 and the morning of September 4 to consider the memorandum circulated by CFC and were 
able to reach an agreement for periods A-121 to A-126 that includes the following principles:  

Six period allocation agreement

•  The agreement is without prejudice to future differential growth discussions.

•  Growth beyond base allocations for the six period block (A-121 through A-126) will be allocated as 
follows:

  » 60% pro rata based on provincial historic market share

  » 10% based on GDP growth

  » 10% based on population growth

  » 10% based on CPI (the lower a provinces CPI the better for this factor)

  » 10% based on quota utilization performance

•  In a period where there is no growth beyond base, no province will have its base reduced.

•  Alberta will sign a service agreement to follow the allocation levels set at CFC. The agreement will have 
an opt out clause after four quota periods

•  Calculations show that BC will be allocated approximately 130,000 kilograms less growth over the 6 
period block than under a full pro-rata system as has been used over the past number of years. 

•  Example: BC’s base for periods A-121 through A-126 is 182,000,000 kilograms live weight.  1.5% 
growth over base would give BC an additional 2,730,000 kilograms.  The 6 period comparative 
advantage agreement would reduce this growth by 130,000 kilograms leaving us with 2,600,000 
kilograms or 95% of the growth that we would have achieved under the previous pro-rata allocation 
system.

Combined with this temporary agreement, stakeholders agreed to renew efforts to arrive at a long term 
solution to the differential growth issue. A mediator has been engaged to lead the process which will be 
expected to deliver a solution. It includes representatives from all 10 provinces, 2 from CPEPC, 1 from 
FPPAC, and 1 from CRFA.  Meetings commenced in December of 2013 with representation from all ten 
provinces and CFC.  The group has a deadline for completion of an agreement by January 31, 2014.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Avian Influenza Captive Insurance 
The BC Poultry industry has been subject to three Notifiable Avian Influenza discoveries (in 2004, 2005 and 
2009).  Outcomes from lessons learned by the outbreaks were:
•  Need for a mandatory, auditable Bio-security program to enhance protection against infectious disease 

outbreaks.
•  Need for an emergency response management plan to handle an infectious disease outbreak.
•  Need for an effective and comprehensive risk management program in place to provide fair 

compensation to growers in the event of an infectious disease outbreak.  

The first two items are in effect today in the poultry industry.  Work continues on the risk management 
program – AI captive insurance.  Industry consultations have been ongoing since 2011, to the point now 
where formal presentations were made at grower meetings regarding a mandatory insurance program.  
Two plebiscites were held in 2013; the first in February to obtain feedback, gauge support for, and the 
value growers place on the completion of the final phase of the risk mitigation strategy and the second 
plebiscite in July 2013 to respond to 2 questions:

July 2013 Plebiscite results:

(1) Do you agree with the implementation of a mandatory AI insurance program through an industry owned 
captive insurance program?

Industry Wide Result: Chicken Grower Result:
Total Ballots issued 585 335

Total Ballots cast 398 233

Response Rate 68.0% 69.6%

Percentage in Favour 65.8% 54.1%

(2) Do you agree with the Marketing Board to use funds to enable the captive insurance to be set up?

Industry Wide Result: Chicken Grower Result:
Total Ballots issued 585 335

Total Ballots cast 396 232

Response Rate 67.7% 69.3%

Percentage in Favour 68.2% 55.2%

The next step was for a joint Poultry Industry submission to be made to BCFIRB on the subject of the 
captive AI insurance.  The four feather groups engaged Mr. Harvey Sasaki of Agri-Saki Consulting to 
prepare the joint submission.  A working draft was completed the end of November 2013 and will be 
completed and submitted to FIRB early in 2014.  

While FIRB has no objection in principle to the industry establishing a poultry insurance program in some 
form as producer risk management does support the Agri-food sector generally, the issue is the proper 
legal and marketing policy authority of regulators where such a program is proposed to be mandatory 
under the Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act.  BCFIRB must first find that mandatory insurance is sound 
marketing policy and within the jurisdiction of the NPMA using the principles/outcomes based approach 
using SAFETI.  A second phase will involve a similar joint submission from the 4 feather boards addressing 
certain specifics of the captive insurance proposal as currently structured.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Appeals
The Board participated in no appeals of its decisions in the year 2013.  However it awaited decisions from 
2 appeals heard in 2012.  Full decisions can be found at the BCCMB website at www.bcchicken.ca under 
“Industry Resources, Publications”.  

Four growers on Vancouver Island appealed the decision of the Board to end transportation cost relief to 
Vancouver Island growers effective with the acceptance of the OIC incentive quota of 9924 kg per 8-week 
cycle and the commencement of quota period A-118.  Top Shelf Feeds was granted limited intervener 
status.  A decision was rendered by BCFIRB on June 14, 2013.  The BCFIRB panel found that the Board did 
not err in its decision and the appeal was dismissed.  Effective in A-118 (shipments starting June 16, 2013) 
ferry freight was eliminated to growers located on Vancouver Island and to growers located on Gabriola 
Island that ship to Vancouver Island.  

Several Lower Mainland growers appealed the fees and levies being paid by them that are used to fund 
the BC Chicken Growers Association, in what they consider to be a manner contrary to the intent of the BC 
Chicken Marketing Scheme (1961).  The BCCGA was granted full intervener status, while the BC Poultry 
Association (BCPA) and the BC Dairy Association were granted limited intervener status.  The appeal 
was heard on November 16, 2012.  A decision was rendered by BCFIRB on December 18, 2013.  FIRB 
dismissed the appeal and denied the appellants’s application seeking an order prohibiting the Association 
from using funding from the Chicken Board to pay legal fees and expenses incurred in relation to its 
intervener role in the appeal.  The Board was directed to change its funding process.  The BCCGA will be 
required to provide detailed documentation demonstrating how each activity or expenditure fits within the 
statutory framework and is consistent with sound marketing policy and provide an explanation of how the 
expenditures relate to the purposes of the Scheme.  The BCCGA is required to provide a more detailed 
“funding and uses” report for inclusion in the BCCMB Annual Report and a copy of its budget for the 
upcoming year.  The Board is to meet quarterly with the BCCGA to review BCCGA budget performance on a 
year-to-date basis including variances.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

Land Ownership Committee 
A committee comprised of BCCMB Board and Staff, BCCGA members and the Board’s outside auditor 
was tasked by the Board to investigate options for possible changes to the Board’s rules concerning the 
leasing of land and buildings and ownership of the same.  The committee was provided with background 
documents on the issue including the results of the growers’ survey undertaken in 2012.  

The survey concerned the issues of Land Ownership, leasing of land, and multiple licences per property.  
The survey was sent electronically to 462 people, while an additional 32 were send via Canada Post.  108 
responses were received in total, with the breakdown as follows: 

The committee undertook fulsome discussion on the issues and ideas.  Along with the ideas came a 
number of unintended consequences.  With every suggested change that was intended to make things 
better, came another set of challenges and potential problems.  Good discussion took place, but at the 
end of the day, it was recognized that at this time, maintaining the status quo was the best option.  The 
recommendation to make no change at this time to the regulations around quota and land ownership was 
accepted by the Board.  

Land Ownership, Multiple Licences per Property and Leasing of Quota
Category Recipients Sent Responded Unresponded

Partial Complete Total Unresponded Opted Out Bounced Total 

NEG Wait List 33 33 2 8 10 23 0 0 23

Permit Producers 109 109 2 21 23 86 2 0 84

Processors/Hatcheries/
Others

42 42 1 4 5 36 1 0 35

Growers** 278 278 9 56 65 213 2 3 208

Website Link 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0

BCAC 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0

Diversity in Ag Consulting 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0

Total 467 462 14 94 108 358 5 3 350
** An additional 32 growers were mailed the survey as they do not have email.
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BCCMB REPORT continued

New Entrant Grower Survey 
– Action of the Board
The Board has now reviewed all information gathered from past surveys on the new entrant grower 
program.  The survey concerned the issues surrounding the BCCMB New Entrant Grower Program.  The 
survey was again sent electronically to 470 people, while an additional 32 were sent via Canada Post.  80 
responses were received in total, with the breakdown as follows: 

In May 2013, after reviewing all the information gathered from the survey, the Board decided to make an 
interim decision to establishing a new long term NEG policy in consultation with the PPAC, based on a 
starting quota of 11,189 kg/cycle (7716 kg plus 3473 kg) and a new funding formula.  The interim decision 
has not been incorporated into the General Orders, however the caveats and restrictions tying all quota to 
the region continue to be enforced as per the General Orders.  

The Board established a sub-committee of the PPAC to provide a recommendation and rationale to go to 
FIRB requesting the same exemptions other commodity boards avail themselves of respecting funding 
formula of the NEG program as the BCCMB uses a different funding method.  FIRB has long held the 
position and expectation that any amendment would be a significant policy request, requiring detailed, 
supported reasoning.  An options analysis with recommendation and rationale for the recommendation will 
be required to be presented to FIRB.  Staff continues to gather and collate data for the committee, prior to 
preparation of a presentation for FIRB, hopefully to be completed early in the spring of the New Year.  

  New Entrant Grower Program
Category Recipients Sent Responded Unresponded

Partial Complete Total Unresponded Opted Out Bounced Total 

Growers** 270 270 8 38 46 224 1 0 223

NEG Wait List 33 33 1 6 7 26 0 0 26

Permit Producers 126 126 3 16 19 107 1 2 104

Processors & Hatcheries 31 31 0 3 3 28 0 0 28

Small Lot Processors 7 7 0 1 1 6 0 0 6

Other Industry 10 10 0 1 1 9 0 0 9

Website Link 1 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0

BCAC 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Diversity in Ag Consulting 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Total 480 479 12 68 80 402 2 2 398
  ** An additonal 32 growers were mailed the survey as they do not have email.
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BCCMB REPORT continued

CFC Specialty Production Policy
The CFC Board approved in principle a Specialty Production Policy put forward by the CFC Policy 
Committee. The policy will be specific to certain breeds of chicken not derived from regular broiler 
breeding stock.  The CFC Board also approved a recommendation to assign to the Policy Committee the 
responsibility to generate a list of eligible breeds for the Board’s approval and to perform the annual review 
of the policy.

In addition to the mandate given to the Policy Committee, CFC’s legal counsel is expected to develop a 
draft policy with the intent to present a final draft to the Board of Directors at the November meeting. CFC 
was asked to consider a two phase approach, one to implement the current policy with a breed based 
definition in 2013 and second to look at the possibility of expanding the definition to include non-breed 
specific products. There appeared to be a willingness to do so, but no timeline for the second phase was 
established.  Once the completed policy is finalized at CFC it will be circulated to industry.  

The BCCMB has participated fully in this process and is pleased with the results as most of BC’s 
recommendations were accepted into the new Policy.  The new policy will pertain to Taiwanese and Silkie 
chicken, but not organic.  The new Policy will be circulated early in the New Year.  



Pricing (Mainstream) - FIRB formula/A-120 change 
in Ontario formula
Mainstream chicken pricing is done using a FIRB ordered formula every 8-week period.  The formula is 
based on the weighted averages of Ontario, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba plus a differential of 4.35 
cents (unless otherwise agreed to the by PPAC).  The general orders contain the formula and provide for 
rules allowing the Board to vary the price for exceptional circumstances.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

  2013 Mainstream Posted Live Price ($/kg live weight)

Province A-115 A-116 A-117 A-118 A-119 A-120 A-121
Difference
(Jan - Dec)

BC 1.7910 1.7728 1.7479 1.7471 1.7770 1.7104 1.6503 -0.1407

AB 1.7665 1.7485 1.7225 1.7225 1.7525 1.6880 1.6280 -0.1385

SK 1.7582 1.7399 1.7160 1.7165 1.7463 1.6775 1.6169 -0.1413

MB 1.7503 1.7323 1.7163 1.7063 1.7363 1.6693 1.6093 -0.1410

ON 1.7350 1.7170 1.6910 1.6910 1.7210 1.6520 1.5920 -0.1430

QC 1.7350 1.7170 1.6910 1.6910 1.7210 1.6520 1.5920 -0.1430

NB 1.8000 1.7820 1.7560 1.7560 1.7860 1.7170 1.6570 -0.1430

NS 1.7980 1.7800 1.7540 1.7540 1.7840 1.7170 1.6570 -0.1410

Average 1.7668 1.7487 1.7243 1.7231 1.7530 1.6854 1.6253 -0.1414

COMMODITY & SYSTEM
MANAGEMENT



Pricing (Specialty) –16 weeks/Serecon COP
Pricing for Specialty chicken includes Taiwanese chicken, Silkie chicken and Certified Organic chicken.  
Pricing is negotiated at the SMAC.  The price is set for 2 8-week quota periods at a time commencing 
every odd period (i.e. A-115, A-117 etc.), based on a Cost of Production (COP) which is updated for 
changes in feed and chick prices every 2nd period.  This is due to the length of cycle for raising specialty 
chicken.  A separate COP is done for TC, Silkie and Organic chicken.  
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BCCMB REPORT continued

  2013 Specialty Price $/kg live weight

TC
Period Category 1

up to 82
days of age

Category 2
83 to 110
days of age

Category 3
over 110
days of age

Organic Silkie

A-115  $2.9566  $3.1782  $3.3954  $4.0320  na 

A-116  $3.0222  $3.2462  $3.4726  $4.1040  na 

A-117  $3.0392  $3.2632  $3.4926  $4.3000  $4.3630 

A-118  $3.0392  $3.2632  $3.4926  $4.3000  $4.3630 

A-119  $3.0392  $3.2632  $3.4926  $4.4000  $4.3630 

A-120  $3.0392  $3.2632  $3.4926  $4.4000  $4.3630 

A-121  $2.9502  $3.1712  $3.3876  $4.0700  $4.2600 



Levies
Levy collection is done as per the General Orders.  Processors collect levies from growers and remit them 
to the Board.  Self-marketers remit levies directly to the Board.  Levies are used to fund Board activities 
and operations as per the BC Chicken Scheme (1961).  

Levy distribution is as per the 2014 Operating Budget (see below), illustrating the percentage of levies used 
on various budget items.  

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Operating Budget 2014

Revenue

Levies 3,778,156

Licenses 7,500

Domestic Lease Fees 248,000

Other 12,000

 

Total Revenue 4,045,656

Expenses

Audit, Legal, Consulting 187,500

BCCGA operating grant 421,205

Board Member Expenses 430,000

CFC levy 1,125,063

Rent 115,500

Salaries and benefits 890,000

Operations 720,500

Total Expenses 3,889,768

Surplus (Deficit) before other items 155,888

Depreciation (non cash expense) -14,000

Reserve Interest 52,000

Net Surplus (Deficit) 193,888
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Audit, Legal, Consulting

BCCGA Operating Grant

Board Member Expenses

Salaries & Benefits

CFC Levy

Rent

5%

11%

11%

29%

3%

23%

Operations
18%

Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989

1992

1995

1998

2001

2005 2008 2013

1983

2004*

37,791,890 kg

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg 157,383,944 kg  156,543,135 kg

*(avian in�uenza)
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Fiscal Management
The Board has a BCCMB Board Policy Manual, which is updated on an “as needed” basis.  It contains 
information such as BCCMB Financial Controls and Procedures, covering a wide range of topics such 
as cheque issuance and signing authority; monthly board financial statements; board operating and 
capital budgets; petty cash control; board remuneration policy; travel and expense policy; and insurance 
policies.  The BCCMB Financial Controls were amended October 29, 2013.  The newly updated policies are 
circulated to Board members for inclusion in their policy manual.  

The Board has an external auditor MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, which is 
appointed by the members to audit the BCCMB financial statements and report directly to them.  The 
external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, the finance 
committee, the entire Board and management to discuss their audit findings.  MNP also presents the 
audited year-end financial statements to the chicken growers at a meeting in May or June and answers 
questions regarding the statements.  

MNP provides the Board with a management letter upon the completion of the year end audit which 
identifies all matters that may be of interest to management in discharging its responsibilities.  The letter 
also notes whether the suggestions presented in the management letter were addressed from the prior 
year.  

The BCCMB General Orders require that a request for proposals (RFP) for audit services is circulated every 
five years.  This process is intended to keep these services current and effective.  The current five year 
cycle completed in 2013.  An RFP was circulated, with MNP being selected as the Boards external auditor 
for the next 5 years.  

Committees – changes at SMAC
The SMAC membership underwent significant changes at the end of 2013.  With the cancellation of 
Fairline’s processing licence, a specialty processor vacancy was filled by Mr. Dion Wiebe of Rossdown 
Natural Foods.  R. Donaldson resigned after transferring most of his specialty quota holdings.  He was 
replaced by Mr. Collin Regehr, a TC grower.  With the untimely passing of Organic grower Mr. Brad Reid, the 
consensus of the Board was to jointly appoint Mr. Corry Spitters (a new organic grower) and Mr. David Reid 
for a 6 month term.  

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE
24

BCCMB REPORT continued



New Entrant Program for Growers in 2013
Below is an update of the Board’s activities related to the seventh full year of New Entrant Grower Program 
quota issuances under Part 49 New Entrant Program for Growers of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.

Under the methodology contained in Schedule 9 (Part 49) (Section 49.21) and retracted under Part 
35 Quota Transfer Assessment the Board deemed a total of 96,655 kilograms of quota available for 
distribution to qualifying new and deemed new entrant growers in 2013. Distribution of the available quota 
was as follows:

Region Type   # of kgs balance
96,655

Lower Mainland Mainstream 145 96,510

Lower Mainland Mainstream 2,702  93,308

Lower Mainland Mainstream 2,701 91,107

Lower Mainland Mainstream 3,473 87,634

Lower Mainland Mainstream 3,473 84,161

Interior Mainstream 3,473 80,688

Interior Mainstream 3,473 69,499

Interior Mainstream 7,716 66,026

Interior Mainstream 3,473 58,310

Interior Mainstream 7,716 54,837

Lower Mainland** Specialty        67,629 (12,792)

Lower Mainland*** Specialty        13,892 (26,684)
          
** 67,629 kilograms of quota from the 2013 new entrant grower pool was distributed to 23 previous new entrant 
growers holding specialty quota to bring them from an entry level of 7,716 kilograms per cycle to a new level of 11,189 
kilograms per cycle.

*** 12,792 kilograms of quota from the 2013 new entrant grower pool was distributed to new entrant growers that 
entered the industry in 2013 holding specialty quota to bring them from an entry level of 7,716 kilograms per cycle to a 
new level of 11,189 kilograms per cycle.
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Looking ahead to 2014

Using the methodology contained in Part 49 New Entrant Program for Growers of the General Orders the 
BCCMB has determined the available kilograms of quota available for distribution to qualifying new entrant 
and deemed new entrant growers in 2014 as follows: 

•  80,597 kilograms = 5% of quota transfers based on a 3 year rolling average.
•  + 48,401 kilograms = quota being retracted by the BCCMB under Part 35 Quota 

Transfer Assessment of the General Orders.
•  - 26,684 kilograms over issued under the program in 2013.
•  = 102,314 kilograms available in 2014.

The BCCMB remains committed in 2014 to its new entrant grower program that is intended and designed 
to address the needs of regional and specialty production and processing.

General Orders Updates:
The BCCMB General Orders were last fully updated August 26, 2011.  The Board now posts proposed 
amendments on its website at www.bcchicken.ca on the home page under “Industry News”.  The purpose 
of this is to allow for a 30 day written comment period prior to the Board approving the amendments.  
Notice of proposed amendments usually appears in the monthly Board reports as well.  

In the year 2013, amendments were circulated to industry in January, April, September and October.  These 
amendments include:

•  The Board now requires New Entrant Growers to the industry to complete any program(s) required by 
the Board.  The idea is for the new growers to increase their education and industry knowledge prior to 
first chick placement.  Growers are notified of the recommended programs required by the Board at the 
time they provide their $5000 deposit.   

•  The Board has amended the formula for the distribution of Board operating surplus, to take into account 
deferred revenue.  The change is consistent with recommendations received by the Board from its 
external auditors MNP in their 2013 Management letter.   

•  Growers of Asian chicken are now to be paid within 10 days of each shipment, instead of being paid 
within 7 days of the final shipping date of each sex of each flock of chicken to the processor.  This 
change was recommended by the SMAC arising from a recent issue of non-payment to specialty 
growers by a processor.   

•  The orders have been amended to prevent a processor of record from retaining ownership of assurance 
of supply upon change of control/ownership.  The original intention of the Board was to not permit this.  
An unintended consequence was the inhibition of family restructuring in small family run processors.  
To that end the Board added a section to the orders to deal with transfer of ownership to direct family 
members, which is similar to the declining quota transfer amendment exemption.  
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2013 Operating Surplus
At the November 2013 Lower Mainland BC Chicken Growers’ Association Meeting, the Board announced 
it’s previously declared operating surplus in the amount of $1,280,758.00 would now be distributed to 
growers In accordance with Part 15 Distribution of Board Operating Surplus.  Previously, the Board reported 
that these funds would be held in abeyance to fund the Captive AI Insurance Program rather than increase 
the levy to cover the start-up costs of the captive insurance. These funds were distributed to growers in 
good standing on a pro-rata basis based on their shipments during the period of January 1st to December 
31, 2012.  The funds were distributed by cheque prior to the end of December 2013 as per the General 
Orders.  

Website Refurbishment
The BCCMB website refurbishment was completed in the first quarter of 2013.  Growers wishing to gain 
access to the “members” portion must call the BCCMB office to obtain a new password.  The member’s 
portion contains BCCMB forms, grower information fact sheets, and copies of National and Provincial 
programs.  

Linkage 
The linkage between the BCBHEC and the BCCMB will be updated in the fall of 2014.  The last full update 
of the formula and its contents occurred in 2011.  The context of the COP respecting fairness, equity 
and consistency of application will be reviewed.  This will be followed by on-farm surveys.  The results 
of the COP and linkage will then be reviewed jointly by the commodity Boards and when adopted will be 
implemented in late 2014.  

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE
27

BCCMB REPORT continued



REPORTING & GOVERNANCE
Organization of Governance Controls
Board members. 
All Board members are provided with a policy manual containing a full complement of information required 
for them in the performance of their duties.  The documents are reviewed yearly and updated as required 
throughout the year.  Specific documents that are provided include:

Oath of office. 
Each new board member, appointed or elected, is required to sign the oath of office document. 

Code of conduct.  
All board members are required to conduct themselves in accordance with the BCCMB code of conduct.  
The code is explained to each new member during an orientation session with BCCMB staff.  

Conflict of interest declaration.  
Each board member is required to submit an updated conflict of interest declaration on a yearly basis.  On 
a number of occasions in the past year, board members have declared themselves in a conflict during 
board discussions and have recused themselves from discussion and voting on certain agenda items 
during Board meetings.  This has worked well, and the chair has not been required to rule on a conflict 
situation in 2013.  

Financial Controls.  
Policies that relate to Board members such as expense claims, travel policy, and per diem rates are 
provided and fully explained to each member of the board during an orientation session.  The controls are 
updated yearly after receipt of the management letter from the external auditor upon completion of the 
year-end financial statements.  The last update occurred in October 2013.  

Board Member Evaluation.  
Each year the Board completes a performance evaluation, through the auspices of the BC Council of 
Marketing Boards (COMB).  The last one was completed in early 2013 and the BCCMB is preparing for an 
update to take place early in 2014.  

Staff members.
•  All staff members are provided with an Employee Policy Handbook which clearly outlines BCCMB 

expectations, policies, and benefits.
•  Formal job descriptions are in place for all BCCMB staff positions and are updated as required.  
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Training of Board and Staff
Board and staff participate in ongoing educational opportunities in regard to Board management 
workshops such as those offered by the Centre for Organizational Governance in Agriculture (COGA) and 
Accountability Framework seminars.  

BCCMB Staff members participate in CFC Auditor Training and Professional Animal Auditor Certification 
Organization (PAACO) and COGA seminars as required.  Inspection staff also participated at the Poultry 
Service Industry Workshop (PSIW) held in Banff in October, where speakers and presentations with an 
emphasis on poultry health, management and genetics were offered.  Staff has also availed themselves 
of the Platinum Brooding Course offered by Dr. Stu Ritchie of Canadian Poultry Consultants Ltd, and small 
flock courses offered by the Dr. Bill Cox of the Ministry of Agriculture at the University of the Fraser Valley 
(Chilliwack campus).  

BCCMB staff attended the “Fence Lines to Corporate Boardrooms” conference hosted by the Farm Animal 
Council of Saskatchewan in December 2013.  The conference brought together all stakeholders in animal 
agriculture, including, but not limited to growers, processors, transporters and marketers. Speakers at the 
conference shared their experience in addressing issues in animal welfare.  BCCMB has shared the lessons 
learned from the speakers at the conference with fellow staff and have suggested some of the speakers to 
agriculture organizations in BC that bring in speakers, such as the COGA. 

Fairline Development Canada (1992) Ltd 
– Failure to pay growers
Fairline Development Canada (1992) Ltd had their processor licence suspended by the Board on May 3rd 
for failure to pay growers for their birds in a manner consistent with the General Orders.  On May 24th 
the Board issued notice to Fairline Development that their licence to purchase and process the regulated 
product issued under Part 5 of the BCCMB General Orders and their processor assurance of supply had 
been cancelled for failing to meet a number of conditions imposed by the Board in order to prevent 
permanent cancellation of their licence.  The Board worked with the affected growers and other processors 
to find homes for the birds in the barns that had been placed by Fairline.  The Board called in the letter 
of credit for Fairline in the amount of $75,000.  The Board, after a completion of an audit by CFC on the 
processor, determined to distribute the funds from the letter of credit.  On August 16, 2013 the Board 
issued cheques to the 4 former Fairline growers on a pro rata basis from the irrevocable letter of credit.  

The Board continues to determine options in concert with the BCCGA and with the 4 former Fairline 
growers to obtain payment for past shipments.  This work continues in 2014.  
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SOCIAL LICENCE & 
STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP
Some of the activities the Board has taken to exercise its mandate and increase the industries social 
licence through corporate social responsibilities are through voluntary or required programs.  

Such required programs include nationally recognized programs such as the CFC On-Farm Food Safety 
Assurance Program (OFFSAP) and CFC Animal Care Program; and provincially required programs such as 
the BC Bio Security Program.  These programs are mandatory and require continued certification.  BC was 
the second province in Canada to reach 100% certification under the CFC ACP Program, and was the first 
province to reach 100% ACP certification (345 of 345 eligible BC chicken farms fully certified) under the 
new density regulations.  

CFC was granted full federal, provincial and territorial government recognition for OFFSAP in March 2013.  
The federal, provincial and territorial government On Farm Food Safety Recognition Program is a process 
to review, assess, recognize and monitor the technical soundness and administrative effectiveness of 
on-farm food safety programs developed and implemented by Canada’s national producer organizations.  
First developed in 1998, CFC’s OFFSAP was the first commodity program in Canada to receive Phase 1 
technical recognition of the producer manual in 2002 and the second commodity program to receive Phase 
2 technical recognition of its management system in 2006.  This achievement reflects the commitment of 
all chicken farmers to implement and maintain a comprehensive national on-farm food safety assurance 
program.  

Voluntary programs include the Recommended Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Poultry, a fact 
sheet provided by the BC Ministry of Agriculture and Lands – Siting and Management of Poultry Barns, and 
the Environmental Farm Plan.  

BCCMB continues to support Take a Bite of BC, a program supported by more than 25 different BC 
agriculture organizations that donate product to culinary students at 30 secondary schools across the 
province.  In 2013, BCCMB sent almost 700 whole birds to participating schools.   

Tremendously appreciating the sponsorship, all involved become loyal supporters of BC chicken.  Teaching 
chefs appreciate being able to work with a greater range of items that would otherwise be cost prohibitive.  
Culinary arts students appreciate getting a chance to cut a chicken themselves, instead of watching.  Other 
students and teachers appreciate the healthy, tasty food:  crowds in school cafeterias double when BC 
chicken is served.  
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Student-made chicken Cordon Bleu 

BC Chicken Marketing Board 

” 

“  The benefits of this Program are many.   

We taught each student how to do an 8 piece professional cut of chicken,  
leaving the chicken backs for soup stock.  They now understand how a fast-food 9 
piece cut  is less meaty.  They understood because they experienced it hands on! 

~ Doug Hook, Chef Instructor  
Sir Charles Tupper Secondary 

October 2013 

Abbotsford Sr Secondary 
Britannia Secondary 
Burnaby Central Secondary 
Centennial Secondary School 
Chilliwack Secondary 
Clarence Fulton Secondary 
David Thompson Secondary 

Delta Secondary 
Garibaldi Secondary 
Gladstone Secondary 
Gleneagle Secondary 
Heritage Park Secondary 
John Oliver Secondary 
Maple Ridge Secondary 

Matthew McNair Secondary 
New Westminster Secondary 
Norkam Secondary 
Penticton Secondary 
Richmond Secondary 
Rick Hansen Secondary 
Riverside Secondary 

Samuel Robertson Technical 
Sardis Secondary 
Sir Charles Tupper Secondary 
South Delta Secondary 
Thomas Haney Secondary 
Vernon Secondary 
Windermere Secondary 

Participating Schools 2013/14 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE
31

BCCMB REPORT continued



BCCMB Strategic Plan
The BCCMB posted its new Strategic Plan on its website in December of 2012 and provided it for 
information purposes to FIRB early in the new year of 2013 and followed up with a presentation to the 
growers on May 23rd when it presented its 2012 Year-end financial statements to the growers.  

Vision
The most proactive, dynamic and sustainable 
Chicken Industry in Canada.  
Consumer Focused, Value Chain Driven. 

Mission
Work with the Value Chain to optimize 
e�ciency and delivery to consumers; 

Engage stakeholders to gain their trust and 
con�dence; 

Strengthen our Social Licence;

and Implement policy in a timely manner.

•  Work with provinces to 
develop a solution to the 
di�erential growth issue 
within the National 
framework.

•  Grow Mainstream Market.

•  Grow Specialty Market.

•  Grow Export Market.

•  BC Allocation Strategy.

•  Increase per capita 
consumption in BC.

•  Support Grower 
Performance.

•  Timely Development of 
E�ective Policies.

•  Publish & Share the Vision 
and Strategic Plan.

•  Manage Stakeholder 
Expectations and 
Engagement.

•  Improve Communications.

•  Consumer Expectations and 
Values.

•  Consumer Expectations on 
Health Issues.

•  Consumers Expectations on 
Animal Care.

•  Develop Chicken Industry 
Story.

•  Better informed consumers 
on how the Supply 
Management System works.

Con�dent and secure every chicken 
product grown and processed in BC 
is safe and risk free of health issues.

Our social licence empowers us to 
build openness, trust and common 
goals with our stakeholders.

Innovative with respect to farm 
practices and sustainability issues; 
Innovative with respect to value 
added products; 
Proactive to lead change in the 
marketplace.

Chicken Growth of 10% 
within the National Supply 

Management System. 

Optimize System 
E�ciencies.

Stakeholders Committed 
to Vision, Direction and 

Programs.

Strengthen Social 
Licence.
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Stocking densities
The method of measuring barn space was changed in 2012 to inside measurements (excluding all 
service areas) and the maximum allowable density increased to 32.5 kg live weight per square meter 
for mainstream chicken only.  This change came into effect December 31, 2013 (marketings beginning 
in week 5 of period A-121).  Production is calculated using the new inside measurements at 2.88 kg per 
square foot.  Growers are given the opportunity to elect to increase their stocking densities from 2.88 
kg per square foot to 3.02 kg per square foot (32.5 kg per square meter) provided that all additional 
requirements contained in the CFC Animal Care Program are met.  

Antimicrobial Use / Antimicrobial Resistance 
(AMU/AMR)
Dr. Cox/S. Leech presentation to BCCGA Nov 13th 2013
Ceftiofur meeting Dec 3rd 2013

The Board in conjunction with government, CFC and industry stakeholders, continued its work on 
antimicrobial use and resistance throughout 2013.  

The industry-government working group has proposed the elimination of preventative use of Class 1 
antibiotics (classification of antibiotics that are essential for serious human infections) in the broiler, 
hatching egg, table egg and turkey sectors to take effect in May of 2014.  To that end, the chicken industry 
has held grower seminars and conducted a pilot AMU monitoring project in 2012.  The government led on-
farm AMU/AMR surveillance commenced in 2013.  Ongoing monitoring will provide useful information and 
assist policy development.  

CLOSING:
The Board’s focus in 2014 will turn towards strengthening its social licence, optimizing system efficiencies, 
and continuing to engage stakeholders to the Board’s vision, direction and programs.  In the coming 
year the Board will continue to deal with current issues such as recovering funds owed to the board by a 
delinquent processor, implementation of the CFC Specialty Program, providing leadership at the national 
level for a long term solution to the question of differential growth and continued implementation of the 
BCCMB strategic plan. 

We would like to express our appreciation for your continued support and welcome the advice 
and participation of the entire industry as we go forward.

Respectfully submitted     Respectfully submitted

Robin Smith      Bill Vanderspek
BOARD CHAIR      GENERAL MANAGER
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2013 REPORT FROM

CHICKEN FARMERS OF CANADA



Antimicrobial Use
Chicken Farmers of Canada is actively working with the federal government and industry stakeholders on 
antimicrobial use and resistance (AMU and AMR). 

The Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance (CIPARS), with Chicken Farmers 
of Canada support, has initiated on-farm surveillance of AMU and AMR to further our knowledge of use and 
resistance within the sector. 

This on-farm surveillance component will monitor antibiotic usage and antibiotic resistance levels on 
Canadian chicken farms which will help to develop antimicrobial use baseline levels and to determine 
future antibiotic use and resistance policies.

Chicken Farmers of Canada has collaborated with all sectors of the industry as we all have a role to play in 
antimicrobial reduction strategies. Working groups with industry and with government met throughout the 
year to discuss surveillance results, to analyze contributing factors and to implement strategies on the use 
of antibiotics so as to provide confidence to consumers and to government about antibiotic usage within 
the poultry sector. This included the development of responsible use guidelines for antimicrobial use which 
have been circulated with the new OFFSAP manual. 

Furthermore, a policy has been developed with chicken sector stakeholders to eliminate the preventive 
use of Category I antibiotics. This deadline has been set as May 15, 2014. Category I antibiotics are those 
considered by Health Canada to be those most important for use in human health.

Animal Care
CFC’s ACP is an auditable program designed to demonstrate the high level and standards of the Canadian 
chicken industry’s on-farm animal care. The program is based on the Canadian Recommended Code of 
Practice for the Care and Handling of Chickens, Turkeys and Breeders from Hatchery to Processing Plant. 

Farmers are audited annually to assess the implementation of the program and determine if the mandatory 
requirements of the program are being maintained.

80% of farmers are certified on the program and the ACP has now been made mandatory by six provincial 
boards (BC, AB, SK, MB, ON, PEI).

A memorandum of understanding (MOU) for the implementation and maintenance of the ACP was signed 
by Chicken Farmers of Canada and all 10 provinces at the 2012 Chicken Farmers of Canada Directors 
meeting in Winnipeg, Manitoba. 
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
Chicken Farmers of Canada’s annual contribution to the Ottawa Food Bank, through the Chicken Challenge 
food donation program, provided nearly $50,000 worth of frozen chicken products to the Ottawa Food 
Bank. In addition, $4,367 was collected through staff payroll donations and matching Chicken Farmers 
of Canada donations. Finally, proceeds from the sale of chicken sandwiches and salads at CFC’s Great 
Canadian Chicken Barbecue and additional donations collected on Canada Day, totaling $4,147, were also 
given to the food bank: a total of $58,424 for the year.

This brings the total contribution to the food bank since 2007 to $258,000.

Outreach & Influences – Communications
Consumer health and their interest in making healthy food and lifestyle choices continue to be big drivers 
of Chicken Farmers of Canada’s outreach. Health attributes have been a major emphasis as we strive to 
educate consumers and health benefits about chicken. These outreach activities are carried out through 
the promotion of CFC’s online and print resources at health conferences and trade shows, and through 
social media. 

Here are some of the conferences and festivals that Chicken Farmers of Canada attended or provided 
materials to:
•  The National Women’s Show (Toronto and Ottawa)
•  Dietitians of Canada’s Annual Conference (Victoria)
•  Canadian Diabetes Association Professional Conference (Montreal)
•  Ontario Society for Health & Fitness Annual Conference (Thornhill)
•  Canadian Western Agribition (Saskatoon)
•  Russell Fair (Russell)

Nutritional Factsheet Series
There continues to be strong demand and uptake for these nutritional tools that were created for free 
distribution for health professionals. 

Chicken Farmers of Canada has been working closely with dietitians to enhance its two main sources 
of print material, namely its recipe booklet and nutritional factsheet series. There are now 12 nutrition 
factsheets in the series, as well as a snack and beverage, and weekly food journal. These are useful 
clinical aids and educational tools for those looking to change their eating habits and achieve a healthier 
lifestyle. Registered dietitians, nurses, pharmacists, nutritionists and other health professionals have been 
ordering these patient resources.

The factsheets are also available for provincial boards and consumers to view or download on our patient 
resources page: http://www.chicken.ca/health/patient_resources.  
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On-Farm Food Safety
Chicken Farmers of Canada is a strong leader in on-farm food safety. Chicken farmers have been applying 
CFC’s on-farm food safety assurance program (OFFSAP) on their farm for the last decade and our national 
program has received full federal, provincial and territorial (FPT) government recognition. 

This recognition was formally announced at the Chicken Farmers of Canada Annual General Meeting by the 
Minister of Agriculture and Agri-Food, the Hon. Gerry Ritz.
To date, over 2,600 farmers (96% of producers) are certified under OFFSAP and are audited on an annual 
basis. In addition, all 10 provinces have developed enforcement mechanisms through regulations and 
policies. 

Chicken Farmers of Canada is the first commodity in Canada to receive full FPT government recognition.

In 2013, continued to participate in various government initiatives to reduce the prevalence of Salmonella 
and Campylobacter in chicken meat. These included the Pathogen Reduction Initiative and the Salmonella 
Enteritidis working group.

Government Relations 
On the policy front, the importation of spent fowl, and the impact on our industry, was by far the most 
active topic in 2013. Numerous meetings, briefings, lobbying efforts and committee presentations took 
place throughout the year on the file.

Agriculture Minister Ritz took charge and was diligent at encouraging fellow ministers and senior 
bureaucrats to work on finding a resolution to this serious issue. Border Services, Health, Finance, the 
Canadian Food Inspection Agency, International Trade and Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada were all 
represented at various meetings and working sessions. There was no resolution of the issue in 2013 but 
there was much advancement.

A Lobby Day was held on May 9th which resulted in 56 meetings on the day, or leading up to it, and a 
further 24 more took place shortly after. That’s a 14% increase over the previous one and represents about 
20% of MPs and Senators.

Two receptions were held in 2013, one with the other national poultry groups in the spring and one in 
November.

Poultry Research in Canada
The Canadian Poultry Research Council (CPRC) was established back in 2001 with a mandate to create 
and implement programs for poultry research and development that address current and future industry 
needs. Ed O’Reilly, from Newfoundland & Labrador, is Chicken Farmers of Canada’s representative on the 
CPRC Board of Directors. The annual contribution from Chicken Farmers of Canada to CPRC was $40,000 
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in support of the Agriculture and Agri-Food Poultry Research Cluster. Additional funding was used towards 
AMR and AMU projects. 

Since 2001, CPRC has allocated over $2.9 million to foster poultry research and these funds have been 
leveraged to over $14 million. The Chicken Farmers of Canada Research Fund – the interest on this fund is 
the annual contribution to CPRC – is at approximately $5.6 million.

International Trade
World Trade Organization
The 9th Ministerial Conference of the WTO, held roughly every three years, took place from December 3–7 
in Bali, Indonesia. Members signed an agreement, in this the 12th year of the Doha Development Agenda 
(DDA or Doha Round). The Bali-package is not a final agreement but serves notice that progress is being 
made on the international trade front and that the WTO is not dead, as many had predicted after 12-years 
of stalled Doha Round negotiations.

Bilateral and Multilateral
Canada worked extensively on two bilateral and multilateral trade agreements in 2013. The Comprehensive 
Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) is a free trade agreement between Canada and the European Union. 
It was signed in principle on October 18, 2013 by Prime Minister Stephen Harper and José Manuel Durão 
Barroso, president of the European Union.

Chicken Farmers of Canada has significant concerns with certain provisions within CETA. The EU and 
Canada recognized early in the negotiating process that there was no commercial interest in poultry meat 
or eggs. Despite this, CFC finds the significant and unprecedented market access concessions granted to 
the European Union for fine cheese troubling, given that the government was unable to conclude the CETA 
using the same successful model employed in previous trade agreements – ones that achieved substantial 
market access gains for Canadian exporters while preserving the integrity of Canada’s supply management 
systems.

Canada’s dairy farmers spoke out vigorously against the deal and the increase of EU cheese imports. The 
full economic impact remains to be seen, but the Canadian government has promised compensation to 
address any adverse effects. 

The Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) is another active trade agreement that Canada is pursuing. Canada and 
the other 11 members (Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Chile, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, 
Singapore, United States and Vietnam) met regularly in 2013 and concluded the year with a meeting of 
ministers and chief negotiators in Singapore immediately after the WTO Ministerial in Bali.

Talks continue, but an agreement was not signed, which means another missed self-imposed trade 
negotiation deadline. The lack of an agreement came as little surprise to most observers, given the number 
of outstanding issues that were still considered far from being resolved. Challenging issues remain and 
the ministers stopped short from setting a new deadline to conclude the talks, which are bogged down on 
items such as intellectual property (IP), state-owned enterprises (SOEs), and market access.
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Spent Fowl
There continues to be excessive imports of spent fowl into Canada. As the item is not subject to import 
controls (the birds are not raised for their meat so, according to current import rules, these birds – and 
their meat – are considered by-products of the egg-laying process) and there are no limits to how much 
may be imported. Some importers have used this circumvention measure to import spent fowl, instead of 
using Canadian chicken, to be used in the manufacturing of processed products that can then be labeled 
as chicken products. There are also cases where fresh chicken is incorrectly labelled as spent fowl for 
import, then sold here in Canada as fresh product. This is a serious threat to our industry because it 
represents a loophole which displaces a significant amount of domestic production. Imports of spent fowl 
products will again exceed 100 million kilograms in 2013, which represents 10% of the Canadian chicken 
production. This is a considerable loss to the Canadian economy as it will result in 8,900 fewer jobs being 
created, over $590-million lost from Canada’s GDP and a further loss of $66 million in tariff evasion. 

Differential Growth
There was an interim six allocation period agreement on differential growth reached on September 
4th while the Chicken Farmers of Canada Board of Directors tries to come up with a long-term one. 
Negotiations are narrowing the differences and produced a formula-based approach to allocating future 
growth based on pro rata, population, economic, and performance.

Differential growth continues to be on the agenda as work continues on the file into 2014.

Alberta Withdraws from the National Agency
In 2012, Alberta sent Chicken Farmers of Canada a letter indicating their intention to withdraw from the 
national agency if the issue of differential growth was not resolved. Differential growth was a critical 
priority for the Board in 2013 but was not resolved before the end of the year. At that point, Alberta’s notice 
became effective.

A service agreement was signed with Alberta to cover the majority of 2014, including the periods A-121 to 
A-126. It was signed on September 10, 2013.
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  Provincial Quota Holdings 2013 (kgs live weight/cycle)

Lower  Mainland Vancouver  Island Interior Total

Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %

Mainstream 238  
26,629,996 

15  523,153 44  3,108,291 297 88%  
30,261,440 

97%

Specialty 41  886,173 41 12%  886,173 3%

Total 279 27,516,169 15  523,153 44  3,108,291 338 100% 31,147,613 100%

% 83% 88% 4% 2% 13% 10%

2,000 bird 
(annual) 
Permit Holders

40 54 64 158

  We have 335 Registered growers as 3 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota.

  Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2013 Mainstream  192,912,078  12,235,089  205,147,167 

Specialty  7,609,464  565,461  8,174,925 

Total  200,521,542  12,800,550  213,322,092 

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2012 Mainstream  192,430,849  12,210,000  204,640,849 

Specialty  5,953,155  432,596  6,385,751 

Total  198,384,004  12,642,596  211,026,600 

In 2013 BC Produced  1.09 % 
more than  in 2012

  2013 Provincial Farm Gate Sales

Total  $384,935,072.11 
Mainstream $356,557,444.98 

Specialty (TC)  $18,996,150.96 

Specialty (Org)  $9,381,476.17 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE
44

Production Statistics



  Levy Rates (Cents/kg)

Province Provincial Levy CFC Levy Total Levy
BC 1.16 0.44 1.60

AB 1.16 0.44 1.60

SK 1.41 0.44 1.85

MB 1.30 0.44 1.74

ON 1.64 0.44 2.08

QC 1.37 0.44 1.81

NB 0.56 0.44 1.00

NS 0.95 0.44 1.39

PEI 1.00 0.44 1.44

NL 1.06 0.44 1.50
  Source:  CFC effective December 30 2012

  Production from Jan. 1 to Dec. 31, 2011  - 2013 (eviscerated weight)

Province 2013 2012 13/12 2011 12/11
BC 156,543,135 155,217,593 0.9% 154,035,131 0.8%

AB 93,026,316 92,976,660 0.1% 92,085,649 1.0%

SK 41,379,917 39,814,547 3.9% 39,595,960 0.6%

MB 43,197,617 43,522,689 -0.7% 42,286,745 2.9%

Western 334,146,985 331,531,489 0.8% 328,003,485 1.1%

ON 337,307,393 330,901,759 1.9% 334,594,458 -1.1%

QC 289,644,208 280,771,216 3.2% 280,092,131 0.2%

Central 626,951,601 611,672,975 2.5% 614,686,589 -0.5%

NB 28,286,868 28,351,892 -0.2% 28,352,513 0.0%

NS 35,886,935 35,634,063 0.7% 34,951,779 2.0%

PEI 3,802,502 3,679,897 3.3% 3,738,339 -1.6%

NL 13,925,651 13,852,978 0.5% 13,412,621 3.3%

Atlantic 81,901,956 81,518,830 0.5% 80,455,252 1.3%

TOTAL 1,043,000,542 1,024,723,294 1.8% 1,023,145,326 0.2%
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  2013 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods 
  amount of quota marketings going through licence agencies in 2013:

Period Start Date End Date Mainstream Quota 
Utilization

A-115 12-Dec-30 13-Feb-23 96.39%

A-116 13-Feb-24 13-Apr-20 96.44%

A-117 13-Apr-21 13-Jun-15 101.23%

A-118 13-Jun-16 13-Aug-10 101.30%

A-119 13-Aug-11 13-Oct-05 100.29%

A-120 13-Oct-06 13-Nov-30 96.29%

A-121 13-Dec-01 14-Jan-25 94.23%

  Chicken Farmers of Canada 2013 total provincial quota allocation 
  and the actual utilization levels (kgs live weight)

A-115   (Dec 30/12 - Feb 23/13) A-116  (Feb 24 - Apr 20/13) A-117  (Apr 21 - Jun 15/13)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production % Allocation Production %

BC 31,434,942 32,440,748 103.2% 31,998,890 32,858,611 102.7% 33,213,981 33,962,426 102.3%

AB 18,869,548 19,240,515 102.0% 19,466,837 19,261,548 98.9% 20,320,752 19,992,328 98.4%

SK 8,155,770 8,338,847 102.2% 8,525,610 8,488,082 99.6% 8,924,259 8,960,070 100.4%

MB 8,723,687 9,081,587 104.1% 9,122,558 9,014,828 98.8% 9,434,789 9,427,699 99.9%

ON 68,853,481 70,069,219 101.8% 69,674,040 70,459,892 101.1% 73,599,012 73,059,429 99.3%

QC 58,232,642 59,048,342 101.4% 59,361,626 59,431,776 100.1% 62,243,316 62,014,751 99.6%

NB 5,810,042 5,989,334 103.1% 5,872,478 5,827,381 99.2% 6,234,230 6,139,463 98.5%

NS 7,138,902 7,160,352 100.3% 7,366,645 7,644,506 103.8% 7,901,793 7,764,391 98.3%

PE 785,041 762,303 97.1% 786,586 802,043 102.0% 788,909 811,072 102.8%

NL 2,887,390 2,867,584 99.3% 2,929,112 2,998,877 102.4% 3,010,071 3,053,215 101.4%

Canada 210,891,445 214,998,831 101.9% 215,104,382 216,787,544 100.8% 225,671,112 225,184,844 99.8%
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TOTAL (A-115 to A-121)
Province Allocation Production %
BC 194,660,011 197,112,823 101.3%

AB 117,358,876 116,637,518 99.4%

SK 51,382,263 51,913,577 101.0%

MB 54,550,232 54,453,771 99.8%

ON 424,482,514 423,819,037 99.8%

QC 360,834,610 362,810,609 100.5%

NB 35,904,069 35,657,752 99.3%

NS 44,871,874 45,276,364 100.9%

PE 4,714,113 4,707,727 99.9%

NL 17,615,192 17,697,528 100.5%

Canada 1,516,712,146 1,520,454,546 100.2%

  Chicken Farmers of Canada 2013 total provincial quota allocation 
  and the actual utilization levels (kgs live weight)

A-115   (Dec 30/12 - Feb 23/13) A-116  (Feb 24 - Apr 20/13) A-117  (Apr 21 - Jun 15/13)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production % Allocation Production %

BC 31,434,942 32,440,748 103.2% 31,998,890 32,858,611 102.7% 33,213,981 33,962,426 102.3%

AB 18,869,548 19,240,515 102.0% 19,466,837 19,261,548 98.9% 20,320,752 19,992,328 98.4%

SK 8,155,770 8,338,847 102.2% 8,525,610 8,488,082 99.6% 8,924,259 8,960,070 100.4%

MB 8,723,687 9,081,587 104.1% 9,122,558 9,014,828 98.8% 9,434,789 9,427,699 99.9%

ON 68,853,481 70,069,219 101.8% 69,674,040 70,459,892 101.1% 73,599,012 73,059,429 99.3%

QC 58,232,642 59,048,342 101.4% 59,361,626 59,431,776 100.1% 62,243,316 62,014,751 99.6%

NB 5,810,042 5,989,334 103.1% 5,872,478 5,827,381 99.2% 6,234,230 6,139,463 98.5%

NS 7,138,902 7,160,352 100.3% 7,366,645 7,644,506 103.8% 7,901,793 7,764,391 98.3%

PE 785,041 762,303 97.1% 786,586 802,043 102.0% 788,909 811,072 102.8%

NL 2,887,390 2,867,584 99.3% 2,929,112 2,998,877 102.4% 3,010,071 3,053,215 101.4%

Canada 210,891,445 214,998,831 101.9% 215,104,382 216,787,544 100.8% 225,671,112 225,184,844 99.8%

A-118  (Jun 16 - Aug 10/13) A-119  (Aug 11 - Oct 5/13) A-120  (Oct 6 - Nov 30/13)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production % Allocation Production %

BC 33,113,893 32,604,200 98.5% 32,741,612 32,378,073 98.9% 32,156,693 32,868,765 102.2%

AB 19,871,916 19,462,417 97.9% 19,599,878 19,623,843 100.1% 19,229,945 19,056,867 99.1%

SK 8,860,123 8,855,355 99.9% 8,523,259 8,644,042 101.4% 8,393,242 8,627,181 102.8%

MB 9,215,459 9,214,061 100.0% 9,116,178 8,613,648 94.5% 8,937,561 9,101,948 101.8%

ON 72,216,860 70,032,909 97.0% 70,759,430 69,777,885 98.6% 69,379,691 70,419,703 101.5%

QC 60,718,594 60,783,550 100.1% 60,453,701 60,955,194 100.8% 59,824,731 60,576,996 101.3%

NB 6,091,507 5,904,446 96.9% 5,992,518 6,430,131 107.3% 5,903,294 5,366,997 90.9%

NS 7,817,860 7,732,604 98.9% 7,428,795 7,458,238 100.4% 7,217,879 7,516,273 104.1%

PE 785,041 714,999 91.1% 781,174 814,946 104.3% 787,362 802,364 101.9%

NL 2,969,444 2,953,182 99.5% 2,946,725 2,970,466 100.8% 2,872,450 2,854,204 99.4%

Canada 221,660,697 218,257,723 98.5% 218,343,270 217,666,466 99.7% 214,702,848 217,191,298 101.2%

A-121  (Dec 1/13 - Jan 25/14)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 31,474,189 31,782,647 101.0%

AB 18,895,321 18,620,383 98.5%

SK 8,240,664 8,428,890 102.3%

MB 8,710,300 8,158,230 93.7%

ON 68,353,537 68,067,873 99.6%

QC 58,164,864 58,913,560 101.3%

NB 5,747,091 5,817,010 101.2%

NS 7,179,365 7,016,802 97.7%

PE 754,872 757,008 100.3%

NL 2,818,189 2,805,437 99.5%

Canada 210,338,392 210,367,840 100.0%
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Filing A 

REGULATED 
MARKETING 
APPEAL
with the British Columbia Farm 
Industry Review Board



A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, decision or determination of the following commodity 
marketing boards and commissions may appeal to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board: 

British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission 
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission
British Columbia Egg Marketing Board 
British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission 
British Columbia Milk Marketing Board 
British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board
British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission 

What is the British Columbia Farm Industry 
Review Board? 
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board (BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing boards and commissions and in hearing regulated marketing 
appeals, farm practices complaints and certain animal welfare issues.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing Board (“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in 1934 under 
the NPMA to supervise the commodity boards. Over the years, the role has been expanded and its authority 
redefined to address changes in the regulated marketing sector.

BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members appointed by Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). There are 
presently six part-time appointees, with experience in production, marketing, law and education related to 
agricultural issues. 

How long do I have to appeal? 
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision 
or determination of the commodity board or commission is made. BCFIRB may extend this deadline, but 
only in what it considers special circumstances.

 

Do I need legal counsel? 
Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision to make, and you will be responsible for paying 
your own lawyer. 
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Where do I send the appeal? 
Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows: 

Mail:
Attention: Executive Director 
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board
PO Box 9129 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC V8W 9B5 

Courier: 
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
780 Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email:
firb@gov.bc.ca

Fax:
250-356-5131

What should be included in the notice of appeal? 
The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money 
orders should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”. 
The notice of appeal must include the following:
•  be in writing and signed
•  identify the decision being appealed
•  state why the decision should be changed
•  state the outcome requested from BCFIRB 
•  include your name, address, telephone number, email (or the contact information of the person handling 

appeal for you)
•  include an address for delivery of any notices related to the appeal
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What happens when the British Columbia Farm 
Industry Review Board receives the appeal?
BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt of your appeal. This letter will also contain 
information which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At the same time, BCFIRB will notify 
the commodity board or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed and instruct them of their 
responsibilities as outlined in the Rules of Practice and Procedure. BCFIRB will also ensure that the 
commodity board or commission has received a copy of your notice of appeal.

BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring them to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The purpose 
of the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify the issue on appeal and determine the position of each 
party as well as the remedies sought by the appellant.  The pre-hearing conference call will also be used to 
confirm hearing dates and directions for the appeal hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) options to facilitate 
settlements of the matter under appeal and will assist the parties in establishing an ADR process. Parties 
can apply to BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions about possible ADR alternatives will also be an agenda 
item for the pre-hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your 
notice of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent upon the circumstances of all the parties to 
the appeal.

What is the most important thing for me to 
remember? 
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal and $100 filing fee within 30 days of an order, decision 
or determination of the commodity board or commission.  Failure to meet this deadline may result in 
BCFIRB not hearing your appeal.
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How can I get more information? 
For further information please refer to the BCFIRB Rules of Practice and Procedures for Appeal. Section 8 
of the Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act, and the Administrative Tribunals Act further describe the appeal 
process and are available on BCFIRB’s website at: www.firb.gov.bc.ca .   The Rules, links to the Acts and 
a full description of the appeal process, including how to file an appeal are on the BCFIRB’s website.  The 
standing orders of the commodity board or commission involved may also contain information.  

Should you have any further questions please feel free to contact BCFIRB: 

Phone: 250 356-8945 
Fax: 250 356-5131 
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca

Updated August/ 2010
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Management's Responsibility 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board: 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for 
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and ensuring that 
all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting 
principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required. 
 
In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the 
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are 
safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements. 
 
The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board and Finance and Audit Committee of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board are 
composed entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of the Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing 
management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the 
annual report. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing 
relevant matters with management and external auditors. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the 
Board's external auditors. 
 
MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external 
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their 
audit findings. 
 
 
March 27, 2014 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

General Manager
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300 - 32988 South Fraser Way, Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877) 853-9471

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2013, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating  the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken Marketing 
Board as at December 31, 2013 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Abbotsford, British Columbia

March 27, 2014 Chartered Accountants
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
 

 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Statement of Financial Position 

As at December 31, 2013 
 

  2013   2012  
 
Assets   
Current   

Cash    1,231,635   1,487,833  
Accounts receivable    491,749   590,692  
Prepaid expenses    40,924   43,222  

 
    1,764,308   2,121,747  
Capital assets (Note 3)   64,277   60,479  

Investments restricted for contingency fund (Note 4)   2,371,904   2,326,524  

 
  4,200,489   4,508,750  
 
Liabilities   
Current     

Accounts payable and accruals    539,018   282,743  
Government remittances payable    17,562   53,818  
Deferred contributions    -   3,050  
Deferred revenue    34,403   157,251  

 
    590,983   496,862  
 

 
Contingencies (Note 5)    

Commitments (Note 6)    

Net Assets   
Invested in capital assets    64,277   60,479  
Restricted for contingency fund    2,371,904   2,326,524  
Unrestricted    1,173,325   1,624,885  

 
    3,609,506   4,011,888  
 
    4,200,489   4,508,750  
 
Approved on behalf of the Board 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
 

 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Statement of Operations 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

  2013   2012  
 

  
Revenues      

Grower assessments  (Note 7)   3,413,949   3,376,426  
Domestic lease income     936,976   721,413  
Over marketing levies     311,431   384,485  
Interest and sundry     83,440   83,128  
Social media project funding     36,700   -  
Licenses     8,360   9,210  
CFC Animal Care Program     4,600   7,800  
Permit fees     3,220   3,563  
Small flock poultry health course funding     2,191   1,250  
New Entrant Growers application fee     -   41,200  
BCAgri funding-veterinary prescription consulting     -   5,024  
Antimicrobial Use survey funding     -   4,200  
Food safety systems funding     -   587  

 
    4,800,867   4,638,286  

 
Operational Expenses   (Schedule 1)  3,922,489   3,321,241  
 
Excess revenues over expenses    878,378   1,317,045  
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

 Invested in capital assets  Restricted for Contingency fund   Unrestricted   2013   2012  
 
Net assets, beginning of year    60,479   2,326,524   1,624,885   4,011,888   3,622,001  

Excess revenues over expenses    (15,019)   -   893,396   878,378   1,317,045  

Distribution of prior years' surplus  (Note 9)   -   -   (1,280,759)   (1,280,759)   (927,158)  

Net change in capital assets     18,817   -   (18,817)   -   -  

Income earned on restricted assets     -   45,380   (45,380)   -   -  

 
Net assets, end of year    64,277   2,371,904   1,173,325   3,609,507   4,011,888  
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

  2013   2012  
 
Cash provided by (used for) the following activities     
Operating   

Excess revenues over expenses  878,378   1,317,045  
Accrued interest income adjustment  27,116   21,963  
Amortization  14,160   55,630  
Loss on disposal of capital assets  859   1,743  

 
     920,513   1,396,381  

Changes in working capital accounts     
Accounts receivable  98,943   (136,876)  
Prepaid expenses  2,298   (2,036)  
Accounts payable and accruals  256,274   137,108  
Government remittances payable  (36,256)   8,130  
Deferred contributions  (3,050)   3,050  
Deferred revenue  (122,848)   94,448  

 
     1,115,874   1,500,205  
 
Financing      

Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers     (1,280,759)   (927,158)  
 
Investing      

Purchase of capital assets     (18,817)   (8,262)  
Purchase of investment restricted for contingency fund     (72,496)   (81,787)  

 
     (91,313)   (90,049)  
 
Increase (decrease) in cash resources    (256,198)   482,998  
Cash resources, beginning of year     1,487,833   1,004,835  
 
Cash resources, end of year     1,231,635   1,487,833  
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

1. Organization 

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing 
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all 
classes of chicken in British Columbia.  The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes 
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations using the following significant accounting policies: 

Cash and term deposits   

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current 
purposes are included in investments restricted for contingency fund. 

Capital assets   

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.  

Amortization is provided using the following methods at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated 
useful lives.  

 
 Method  Rate 

Computer hardware  declining balance   30  %    
Computer software  declining balance   100  %    
Furniture and office equipment  declining balance   10  %    
Website  declining balance   20  %    

In the year of purchase, assets are amortized at one half of the regular rate.  

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time the leasehold 
improvement is purchased. Therefore, the assets will be amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years. 

 
Long-lived assets    

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the 
applicable accounting policies. 

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized 
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount.  Impairment is 
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Any impairment is included in the 
statement of operations for the year. 
 
Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets. 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE
63

BCCMB Financial Statements continued



British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page) 

 
 
 

 

Fund accounting   

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the 
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis.  Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting 
purposes into funds.  These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance 
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors. 

Unrestricted Fund 
The Unrestricted Fund reports the Board’s revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the Board.  

Capital Asset Fund 
The Capital Assets Fund reports the Board’s capital assets and presents the flow of funds related to their acquisition and 
disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.  

Restricted Contingency Fund 
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to 
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash or cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000 and 
not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances. Any 
amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the amount 
of the levy paid by a grower. The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted Contingency 
Fund and/or the levy rate at any time. In order to qualify for a distribution a grower must be in good standing and be a current 
grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared. Investment income generated will be re-invested into the 
Restricted Contingency Fund. 

Revenue recognition   

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors. Over marketing levies in 
respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced to the grower approximately three weeks after 
the end of the production period. Over marketing levies are recognized on the date of each individual grower’s shipment.  

Domestic lease charges in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced to the grower 
approximately two months prior to the start of the production period. Domestic lease payments are recognized on the date of 
each individual grower's shipment.  
 
Revenue from other sources are recorded when services are provided or revenue is received. 

Measurement uncertainty    

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts is 
provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets. 

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in 
excess of revenues and expenses in the periods in which they become known.  
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page) 

 
 
 

 

Financial instruments   

The Board as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments.  The Board has classified the following 
financial assets as held for trading: unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investment restricted for contingency fund.  
These instruments are initially recognized at their fair value.   Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on 
the trade date and transaction costs are immediately recognized in net income. 
 
Held for trading financial instruments are subsequently measured at their fair value, without any deduction for transaction 
costs incurred on sale or other disposal.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized immediately in 
income.   
 
Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, while accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as 
other financial liabilities.  These accounts are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
Fees incurred on an exchange of financial liabilities or a modification of the terms of financial liabilities that is accounted for 
as an extinguishment are included as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment, while any related other costs incurred are 
recognized in current year earnings.  All fees and costs incurred on the exchange or modification of a financial liability not 
accounted for as an extinguishment are recognized in current year earnings. 

3. Capital assets  

    2013   2012  
  Accumulated   Net book   Net book  
  Cost   amortization   value   value  

 
Computer hardware  201,350   173,961   27,389   25,727  
Computer software  148,207   148,207   -   -  
Furniture and office equipment  335,034   309,383   25,651   27,006  
Leasehold improvements  209,417   209,417   -   -  
Website  24,510   13,273   11,237   7,746  
 
  918,518   854,241   64,277   60,479  
 

 

4. Investments restricted for contingency fund  

Investments restricted for contingency fund consists of five term deposits which bear interest at 2.10% maturing in June 
2014.  In the prior year, the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of five term deposits which earned interest 
at 1.90%, and matured in June 2013.  
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

 
 
 

 

5. Contingencies  

Unused credit facility 
 
On April 6, 2004 the Board entered into a credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the 
following funding: 
 
(a)  $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans.  This facility bears interest 
at bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand. 
 
(b)  $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the CFC for liquidated damages pertaining to potential levies on excess 
production allocated to the province.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand. 
 
The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the Board, certified copies of Board 
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $644,000 and an enforceable letter of undertaking 
from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have agreed to 
purchase. 
 
The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds with 
processors and provision of weekly production reports. 

The agreement was renewed on December 9, 2009. 
 
Other contingency 
 
During 2013 the Board has entered into a process of risk mitigation in regards to Avian Influenza Insurance, specifically the 
use of a captive insurance corporation. The final results from this process is not yet known, however should it proceed the 
Board will have to make an initial contribution of $50,000 during fiscal 2014, with a possible payment in the range of 
$1,200,000 to $1,600,000 at an undetermined time thereafter. As of the date of the financial statements no final decisions 
have been made regarding this programme. 

6. Commitments  

(a)  The Board leases office space with monthly rent of $4,631 (2012 -  $4,631), until June 30, 2015, and $4,724 until June 
30, 2017, including triple net expenses.  

 

(b)  The Board has entered into three vehicle leases (ending in 2014) and one equipment lease with the total scheduled 
payments (including HST) as follows:  

 
 2014  15,888  
 2015  3,991  
 2016  3,991  
 2017  3,991  
 2018  3,326  

7. Grower assessments  

The levy on all growers is 1.60 cents (2012 - 1.60) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which is 
inclusive of the CFC service fee.  Of the levy assessed, 0.44 cents (2012 - 0.44) is remitted to the CFC for services 
provided. 
 
Effective May 18, 2014, the levy on all growers will increase to 1.69 cents per kilogram and the amount remitted to CFC will 
increase to 0.53 cents. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

 
 
 

 

8. Related party transactions  

The following related party transactions have occurred during the year: 

The operating grant totaling $382,503 (2012 - $373,305) and rent expense of $57,000 (2012 - $57,000) were paid to the 
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association ("BCCGA"), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia. As at the 
year ended December 31, 2013 the BCCGA had a surplus of revenue over expenditures of $57,502 (2012 - $50,000) which 
was returned to the Board reducing the operating grant from $440,005 to $382,503 (included in accounts receivable).  

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison 
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government. It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board 
which approves the Association's annual operating budget.  

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.  

9. Distribution of prior years' surplus  

The Board distributes a surplus to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select 
current liabilities and deferred revenue at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses. The following outlines 
the funds that were distributed to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the 
growers in the year the surplus occurred: 

    2013     $1,280,759 

    2012     $   927,158 

    2011     $   500,894 

    2010     $          - 

    2009     $   883,868 

10. Trust assets and liabilities  

As at December 31, 2013 the Board held funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers.  Trust assets 
held totalled $25,000 (2012 - $20,000). The assets and offsetting liabilities are not reflected on the Board's Statement of 
Financial Position, as it offsets to $Nil. 

11. Financial instruments  

The Organization, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the 
Organization is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial 
instruments except as otherwise disclosed. 

 

Credit concentration 

As at December 31, 2013, five processors (2012 - five) accounted for 54% (2012 - 52%) of the accounts receivable. The 
Organization believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables. The 
Organization performs regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible 
accounts receivable. 

12. Grower settlement 

Due to the default of a processor during the year, the Board, upon recommendation received from BCCGA, offered a level of 
compensation to the four growers who were owed amounts, which was accepted. At this time the Board is proceeding with 
litigation in an effort to recover the outstanding funds that are now owed to the Board. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operational Expenses 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 
 

  2013   2012  
 
Operational Expenses      

50th Anniversary     -   63,937  
Advertising and promotion     35,265   24,507  
Amortization     14,160   55,630  
BC Chicken Growers Association  (Note 8)   382,503   373,305  
Bad debts     392   -  
Bank charges and interest     6,564   7,065  
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals     477,067   402,515  
Chicken Farmers of Canada (CFC) levy  (Note 7)   938,793   928,238  
Computer installation and consulting     48,427   25,197  
Consulting fees     40,264   51,729  
DEPI funding     16,768   -  
Dues, memberships and subscriptions     12,789   14,341  
Food safety systems program     -   587  
Grower settlement  (Note 12)   382,621   -  
Insurance     5,128   5,295  
Island freight subsidy     46,244   66,377  
Loss on disposal of capital assets     859   1,743  
National overproduction penalty     205,125   72,151  
New Entrant Program     1,180   4,056  
Office supplies and stationary     60,888   61,994  
PPAC     4,115   1,883  
Postage     11,752   14,803  
Professional fees     35,650   98,879  
Rent  (Note 6), (Note 8)   110,136   110,563  
Repairs and maintenance     12,226   12,608  
SMAC     25,654   11,590  
Salaries and benefits     807,483   775,885  
Small flock poultry health course     2,191   1,250  
Social media strategy     36,700   -  
Staff travel     88,850   91,826  
Strategic plan initiative     93,894   22,566  
Telephone     18,801   15,697  
Veterinary prescription consultation     -   5,024  

 
    3,922,489   3,321,241  
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BC Chicken Growers’ Association

Operating
Budget 2014

  REVENUE 

Revenue - BCCMB 421,205.00
Rental Income 60,000.00

Trailer - Operating Revenue 10,000.00

Int. Trailer - Operating Revenue 5,000.00

BCBHEPA Trailer Operation Cost Sh. 2,500.00

TOTAL REVENUE 498,705.00
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EXPENSES 
 

Payroll Expenses
Directors Per Diem 138,000.00

Directors Per Diem - Trailer 10,500.00

Directors Per Diem - Interior Trailer 8,000.00

Secretaries’ Honorarium 60,000.00

Per diem non directors 2,500.00

Per Diem Non Directors Trailer 18,000.00

Per Diem Non Directors Int. Trailer 2,500.00

CPP Expense 5,500.00

WCB Expense 500.00

Total Payroll Expense 245,500.00

 

General & Administrative Expenses
Audit 5,000.00

Advertising & Promotions 2,000.00

Trailer - operating expenses 19,000.00

Int. Trailer - operating expenses 4,000.00

Annual picnics, dinners 20,000.00

Conferences & Seminars 2,500.00

Dues & Subscriptions 3,500.00

Insurance - directors 1,000.00

Insurance - trailers 1,600.00

Interest & Bank Charges 150.00

Office Supplies & Postage 3,000.00

Property Taxes 10,500.00

Legal Fees 40,000.00

Arbitration 0.00

Consulting Fees 5,000.00

Educational Video Production 0.00

Repairs & Maintenance 0.00

Meeting & Refreshments 5,000.00

Telephone & Fax 1,750.00

Strata Fees 10,205.00

BC Poultry Association 59,000.00

Travel & Entertainment 55,000.00

Donations 5,000.00

Total General & Admin. Expenses 253,205.00
 
 

     TOTAL EXPENSE         498,705.00
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The management of BC Chicken Growers' Association is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information contained in this annual
report.

Management prepares the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The financial statements are considered by management to present fairly the
management's financial position and results of operations.

The organization, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been reported on by Cazander Ronda & Associates, Certified General
Accountants, the shareholders' auditors. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and their
opinion on the financial statements.

Ravi Bathe, President
February 8, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of 
BC Chicken Growers' Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers' Association, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2013, and the statements of operations,
changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
organization's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the organization's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
BC Chicken Growers' Association as at December 31, 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

Abbotsford, BC
February 8, 2014 CERTIFIED GENERAL ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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J.T. Cazander, CPA CGA*
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Joe Kerkhoff, CPA, CGA*
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Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2013 2012

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 208,097 $ 218,170
Accounts receivable 1,178 -
Inventory (Note 4) 7,219 -
Prepaid expenses 1,165 1,649
GST receivable 6,689 50

224,348 219,869

Capital assets (Note 5) 286,884 295,831

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) $ 65,964 $ 54,998
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 14,662 34,500

80,626 89,498

Fund balances 430,606 426,202

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2013 2012
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Prepaid grant (Note 7) 14,662 34,500

80,626 89,498

Fund balances 430,606 426,202

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2013 2012

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 8) $ 440,005 $ 423,305
Miscellaneous income 1,646 1,273

441,651 424,578

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 1,108 1,495
Amortization 230 579
Annual picnic, dances and dinners 19,709 22,636
BC Poultry Association (Note 9) 64,772 71,463
Bank charges 65 138
Conferences and seminars 7,128 2,842
Directors remuneration 147,306 141,715
Donations 4,860 4,834
Meetings and refreshments 3,341 3,936
Memberships, dues and subscriptions 3,607 70
Office 2,942 2,568
Professional fees (Note 10) 8,659 18,694
Secretaries honoraria 61,074 58,820
Telephone and utilities 1,625 1,735
Travel and meals 51,016 43,485

377,442 375,010

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 64,209 49,568

Other income (loss)
Loss on sale of capital assets (1,661) -
Rental income, Schedule 1 30,893 30,793
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns, Schedule 2 (31,535) (23,479)
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 12) (57,502) (50,000)

(59,805) (42,686)

Excess of revenues over expenditures for year $ 4,404 $ 6,882

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2013 2012

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 208,097 $ 218,170
Accounts receivable 1,178 -
Inventory (Note 4) 7,219 -
Prepaid expenses 1,165 1,649
GST receivable 6,689 50

224,348 219,869

Capital assets (Note 5) 286,884 295,831

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) $ 65,964 $ 54,998
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 14,662 34,500

80,626 89,498

Fund balances 430,606 426,202

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets unrestricted

Total
2013

Total
2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 295,831 $ 130,371 $ 426,202 $ 419,320

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (8,947) 13,351 4,404 6,882

Balance, end of year $ 286,884 $ 143,722 $ 430,606 $ 426,202

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2013 2012

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 208,097 $ 218,170
Accounts receivable 1,178 -
Inventory (Note 4) 7,219 -
Prepaid expenses 1,165 1,649
GST receivable 6,689 50

224,348 219,869

Capital assets (Note 5) 286,884 295,831

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) $ 65,964 $ 54,998
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 14,662 34,500

80,626 89,498

Fund balances 430,606 426,202

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2013 2012

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 4,404 $ 6,882
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 10,119 8,961
Loss on sale of capital assets 1,661 -

16,184 15,843
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (1,178) 4,558
Inventory (7,219) -
Prepaid expenses 484 586
GST receivable (6,639) (50)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,967 25,000
Prepaid grant (19,838) 34,500
HST payable - (110)

(7,239) 80,327

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (4,848) (28,103)
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets 2,014 -

(2,834) (28,103)

Increase (decrease) in cash (10,073) 52,224

Cash resources, beginning of year 218,170 165,946

Cash resources, end of year $ 208,097 $ 218,170

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2013 2012

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 208,097 $ 218,170
Accounts receivable 1,178 -
Inventory (Note 4) 7,219 -
Prepaid expenses 1,165 1,649
GST receivable 6,689 50

224,348 219,869

Capital assets (Note 5) 286,884 295,831

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) $ 65,964 $ 54,998
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 14,662 34,500

80,626 89,498

Fund balances 430,606 426,202

$ 511,232 $ 515,700

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

1. Incorporation and nature of business

BC Chicken Growers' Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia
to unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry
and to act as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

2. Accounting policies

The Association applies the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit enterprises.

Financial statement presentation

These financial statements are restricted in scope and contain a representation only of the
financial activities pertaining to the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  The Association provides for amortization using the
declining balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their
estimated useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Buildings 4%
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini
Barns 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 30%
Educational video 10%

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a not-for-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act
of British Columbia, and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e)
of the Income Tax Act.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

3. Financial instruments

Transactions in financial instruments may result in an entity assuming or transferring to another
party one or more of the financial risks described below. The required disclosures provide
information that assists users of financial statements in assessing the extent of risk related to
financial instruments.

(a) Fair value
The fair value of current financial assets and current financial liabilities approximates their
carrying value due to their short-term maturity dates.  The fair value of long-term financial
liabilities approximates their carrying value based on the presumption that the Association is
a going concern and thus expects to fully repay the outstanding amounts.

4. Inventory

2013 2012

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn - teachers guides and
colouring books $ 6,509 $ -

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn II - brochures 710 -

$ 7,219 $ -

5. Capital assets

2013 2012

Cost
Accumulated
amortization Net Net

Land $ 100,277 $ - $ 100,277 $ 100,277
Buildings 243,417 98,846 144,571 150,595
Poultry in Motion Educational

Mini Barns 47,690 11,903 35,787 43,328
Furniture and fixtures 6,386 5,849 537 671
Computer equipment 4,783 3,919 864 960
Educational video 4,848 - 4,848 -

$ 407,401 $ 120,517 $ 286,884 $ 295,831
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

5. Capital assets (continued from previous page)

The Association is committed to producing a secondary school age educational video and
accompanying resource materials.  To assist with the development of this video and the
accompanying resource manuals, the Association has received two grants (see note 6). Presently
the production of the video is completed and the development of the accompanying resource
materials is under way.  The costs incurred to produce the video totaled $32,436 and
management estimated that $27,588 of the grant funds were available to cover those costs.  As
the accompanying resource material production has not yet been completed, the video is not
being shown to its intended audience and therefore no amortization has been taken for this year.

6. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

On December 15, 2013 the Association received its annual invoice from BC Poultry Association
(BCPA) (see Note 9)  On this invoice the BCPA changed the way it allocated its costs between
the four associated groups that fund it.  Management had decided to dispute this change in
funding allocation. The invoice submitted by BCPA was for $79,493 including GST and the
Association has chosen to pay $68,010 including GST which would be the Association's share
based on the prior years' allocation. Management was contesting the balance of the bill.  
Subsequent to the year end, the BCPA has reversed the new allocation on the sharing of the costs
and change its policy back to the cost sharing formula used in prior years. As such, there will be
no further costs to be recognized and the amounts recorded are the actual costs that the
Association will be incurring with BCPA for 2013. BCPA did not revise the invoice sent on
December 15, 2013 and will send out a reduced invoice for the 2014 calendar year. However, as
the revised amount is the total expense for 2013, the balance of the invoice received of
$10,936.35 plus GST has not been set up in accounts payable in the current year.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

7. Prepaid grant

On September 5, 2012 the Association received a grant for the production of the video from the
"Abbotsford Community Foundation - Agricultural Enhancements Grants Program" for  $34,500.

On November 30, 2012 the Association was approved for an additional grant by the Investment
Agriculture Foundation of British Columbia (IAF of BC) at a rate of 23.66% of eligible costs up
to a maximum of $15,500. On March 11, 2013, the Association received $7,750 of the grant and
the balance will be funded upon completion of the project and submission of the required
documentation.  As management can not be sure of the final costs of the production of the video
and accompanying resources, the balance of the  IAF of BC grant has not been recognized at this
time.
These funds were received to assist in the production  of a secondary school age - educational
video. At present management estimates that it has used up approximately $27,588 of the
$42,250 in funds that was received up to this point (see Note 5).  The balance will be applied,
according to the restrictions placed by each grant, to the development of the accompanying
resource materials and to alleviate some of the costs of the school visits where this video will be
shown.

8. Related party transactions

During the year, the Association received operating revenue of $440,005 (2012 - $423,305) and
rental revenue of $57,000 (2012 - $57,000) from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.
These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which was the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related
parties.

9. BC Poultry Association

During the year, the Association paid fees to the BC Poultry Association, which represents the
feather groups in BC. The BC Poultry Association is keenly interested in the continued
development of the bio-security initiatives within the BC Poultry Industry. It will strengthen the
long term viability of the entire industry to further develop on farm strategies that will minimize
disease infections and encourage improved flock husbandry practices.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

10. Professional fees

Details of the professional fees are as follows:

2013 2012

Audit $ 4,995 $ 4,995
Legal 1,164 13,449
Consulting 2,500 250

$ 8,659 $ 18,694

11. Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns Cost Sharing

The British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers' Association owns 20% of the Poultry in
Motion Educational Mini Barn and shares in 20% of the net operating costs of the trailer for each
calendar year. An invoice was issued on December 8, 2013 to the BC Broiler Hatching Egg
Producers Association for $1,531. This amount represents cost sharing of $8,621 less $7,089 for
per diem work and expenses that the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association paid
directly to its directors. The Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn II is owned 100% by the
Association and there is no cost sharing involved in its operating costs.

12. British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

At the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association Directors' meeting of February 12, 2014,
the directors passed a motion to return $57,502 of the 2013 operating surplus to the British
Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.

13. Economic dependence

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board.
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Schedule 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF RENTAL INCOME
Year ended December 31

2013 2012

Rental revenue $ 57,000 $ 57,000

Expenses
Amortization 6,024 6,275
Strata fees 10,205 10,204
Property taxes 9,878 9,728

26,107 26,207

Rental income $ 30,893 $ 30,793
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Schedule 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF POULTRY IN MOTION EDUCATIONAL MINI BARNS
Year ended December 31

2013 2012

Revenue
Operating revenue $ 19,865 $ 20,120
Cost sharing (Note 11) 1,531 4,111
Operating grants 12,320 6,000

33,716 30,231

Expenditures
Amortization 3,865 2,107
Attendants' remuneration 43,173 30,350
Insurance 2,000 1,470
Operating 16,213 19,783

65,251 53,710

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns losses $ (31,535) $ (23,479)
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